






RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of 

Danbury Township Zoning Commission 
GOVERNMENT FORMS & SU-PPUES 844-224-333"8 "FO"'R"'M" N'"'O' , "1O"'14"'S--------------------------------------

Held December 3, 20 2025 

fully account for and provide solutions to existing drainage deficiencies, which this 
application does not. 

For these reasons, the Association respectfully requests that the Board deny the rezoning application. 
Approval would be inconsistent with the Township's responsibility to uphold compatible land-use 
patterns and with our duty to protect the residential character, safety and property values of West Harbor 
Shores. Furthermore, granting this request could establish an undesirable precedent encouraging future 
commercial rezoning within established residential communities, potentially resulting in long-term 
negative impacts. Mr. Froehlich finished by thanking the Board for their consideration and their 
continued efforts to preserve the standards that safeguard the quality of life in this community. 

Ms. Mahl asked if Mr. Froehlich had presented the same concerns to the Regional Planning 
Commission. Ms. Dale said he did not because the public does not get notification. Mr. Froehlich said 
he would have presented the same if he had been there. Mr. Tuttamore asked if there was commercial 
traffic on the street now because it backs into the Anchor's Away properties. Mr. Froehlich said there 
was. 

Ms. Dale advised the members of the public that they could not speak over each other and 
would need to wait and approach the podium to make comments. 

Mr. Froehlich said commercial access to it now ends right at the end of the Anchor's Away 
property. He said they actually own the road through the Anchor's Away property and it would not be 
extended four more lots in. Mr. Tuttamore asked if commercial traffic could not go down Saylor Street 
currently from the NorthCoast properties. Ms. Mahl clarified by asking if it could go through the 
residential area now. Mr. Froehlich stated that he thought they could. Mr. Froehlich asked another 
member in attendance to come forward to answer the Commission's question. 

Bill Greer, Owner, 1970 N. Robert, Marblehead, came forward and said the roads are open 
roads for anybody to drive on but predominantly at the end of the Anchor's Away property, the heavy 
traffic stays in that area. He said they could drive down the residential streets, but they do not drive 
down there, they just get regular car traffic. He said the roads are designed for that and if you go back 
into Anchor's Away, there are areas in there where the road cuts through, but there is concrete and lots 
of improvements to handle the weight of the heavier equipment that takes place in that area. 

Jeff Raines, Owner, 5867 E. Saylor, Marblehead, came forward and said he lives across 
from the lots being considered for rezoning. He said they bought their house in 2007 and bought it to 
be in a housing development. He said they did not buy it to have potentially big steel building across 
the street. He said they love the Crow's Nest restaurant, however the lots in question are not meant for 
the use of the Crow's Nest. He said he believes they are meant to be redeveloped and for continuous 
bigger space for the marina and Crow's Nest to have room to move to create that continuous space. He 
said that is what it looks like to him. He said they bought for the development there and there are plenty 
of places where you could live next to big steel buildings, but they did not do that. They did not choose 
to do that and spent a lot of money buying their property and improving their real estate. He said they 
pay a lot of real estate taxes with very low use of tenants, where most people are gone home and do not 
have kids in the local schools. He said it would seem they are ideal. They own and take care of their 
own streets. It would seem like the ideal neighborhood to have. He said he thinks the development 
would affect their quality of life living with noise and traffic, degrade their property values and loss of 
neighborhood feeling. He said it would be bad for the neighborhood. Mr. Raines said he likes the 
applicant and he does business with the property owner at the marina so this is not a personal thing, he 
just does not want to transfer the existing condition to the applicant or Crow's Nest benefit at his and 
his neighbor'S deficit when they bought in knowing how it was zoned. 

Kim Oxendale, Owner, 1901 N. Nan Ave., Marblehead, came forward and said she had 
some questions. Ms. Dale said she should ask her questions to the Board and the applicant could address 
them at the end. Ms. Oxendale said she wanted to know how much of the overall property to be rezoned 
butted up to commercial property. Ms. Dale said it is approximately twenty five to thirty feet. Ms. 
Oxendale then asked how much of that property butts up to and how long the commercial property is 
they want to rezone and indicated she was trying to get a percentage. Ms. Dale said the lot itself is 225 
feet long, so it would be about twenty five feet of that. Ms. Oxendale then asked if there was a proposed 
purchase agreement between Crow's Nest and NorthCoast. Mr. Skweres answered that there was. Ms. 
Oxendale asked if Heiberg and NorthCoast were owned by the same person. Mr. Skweres stated that 
they were. Ms. Oxendale then said that basically Mr. Kronberg owned all of it. Mr. Skweres stated she 
was correct. Ms. Oxendale asked if there was a residential home in between Anchor's Away 
commercial that backs up to it and the lots proposed for this rezoning. Ms. Dale confirmed that there 
was. Ms. Oxendale asked ifthere was anything in writing from the lender stating that this rezoning was 
required. Mr. Skweres said he did not have anything with him that could be presented that night. Ms. 
Oxendale asked if it could be prepared and presented. Mr. Skweres said he would ask the lender. Ms. 

4 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of M""'e .... eluiou,g&-__ _ 

Danbury Township Zoning Commission 
GOVERNMENT PORMS & SUPPLIES 844-224-3338 FORM NO. 10148 

Held December 3, 20 2025 

Oxendale said if the applicant was not going to develop the lots, why would he not just sell them off as 
residential, take the cash and run if they wanted to secure their future_ 

Ms. Kopanski stated that land is an investment. Ms. Oxendale then asked why they needed to 
change it to commercial. Ms. Kopanski said she believed it was a request from the lender. Ms. Oxendale 
then questioned why it was not in writing. Ms. Kopanski said the Commission could not require that. 
Ms. Dale said they cannot necessarily require it. If the applicant chooses to provide it, then it can be 
presented at the Trustee meeting. Mr. Tuttamore said as a former banker and former bank president, 
the request from the lender was not unusual, it happens all the time. Ms. Mahl asked to clarify something 
to Ms. Oxendale. She pointed out that all of the area in pink was already recreational commercial, an 
additional area on the map was the property in question and another area was the Crow's Nest. Ms. 
Oxendale said another area is residential homes though and she had wanted to know the ratio of "feet 
to feet" on the exact amount being requested to be rezoned. 

Dave Gang, Owner, 5851 E. Saylor and 5846 E. Saylor, Marblehead, came forward and 
said he owns two lots, which are lots one and five in this subdivision. Both of his lots are zoned "R-3". 
He said he agreed with what Mr. Froelich and Mr. Raines had said but wanted to add a few comments 
as well. He said regarding reputational damage to Anchor's Away and Crow's Nest. He said he loves 
the restaurant and even had his daughter's wedding there. He said it is a great place to go. Mr. Gang 
said unfortunately the lots in question are not suitable for commercial. He stated if there is any 
development there, and he understands there are no plans for development right now on an "R-3" basis, 
and they never intend to do it residential, but fears if it is rezoned "R-C" they can change their minds 
and go forward with a different plan. He said a different plan was addressed in 1981 and 1982 for these 
properties and those specific lots. Mr. Gang said he met his wife in 1979 and her grandfather bought 
their property in 1947 and were the first developed properties on that harbor. He said back in 1981 and 
1982, either Anchor's Away or Crow's nest graveled over these lots. He said they came to the zoning 
board and then did it in absence of the Zoning Board's approval. After they put gravel all over, they 
parked campers and boats there. The campers partied there, urinated there and were very disruptive 
there. They were taken to court, and documentation could be provided. Mr. Gang said this cannot 
happen in their neighborhood again. He said it was ridiculous and a different vibe then. He said they 
left debris and charcoal all over the lots. He said he never even parked his car over there because his 
wife's father told him not to because it was not their property. He said the vacant property has been a 
great asset to the neighborhood and to open that up again, even with putting restricted easements or 
setbacks, in place, the possibility of having a building or gravel parking lot or anything to do with 
commercial development should not be allowed. He said he does not want to have a bad relationship 
with the Crow's Nest owner's as he frequents the restaurant and takes clients there, citing their great 
food and service. He also does not want to have a bad relationship with Mr. Kronberg and Anchor's 
Away. He said many of the residents of this neighborhood have been clients and customers of them 
both. He said it is really going to anger them if they decide to put up a building or structure or anything 
like that. He said it sounds like the applicant is on the right side, because they want it for them, rather 
than Anchor's Away, which is cool, but it is just not a fit to have a fifteen foot access point from the 
Crow's Nest parking lot to come into that area and· develop it as something else. He said he respect's 
applicant's ability to change his mind after it goes to "R-C," because he would do the same. He said as 
a group they just cannot allow that. He said his solution was similar to Ms. Oxendale's, which is to sell 
the property as residential. He said if the applicant looked around the room, he would see that there are 
a few there that are sufficiently capitalized to make him an offer for it tomorrow. He said if it is a 
lending concern of changing the zoning or selling the property off in the future, he thought that they 
could come up with that pretty quickly. If they wanted to close by the end of the year, they could make 
it happen. He said respectfully that is what he had to offer. He then asked the Zoning Commission how 
many of them had patronized the Crow's Nest restaurant because some of them did not seem to know 
where the property was and said it was one of the best restaurants in the area. Ms. Dress advised him 
that it is a lot different driving up to a place versus seeing in from an overhead map. Ms. Kopanski 
advised him that she worked there many years ago. 

Jenny Cooper, Owner, 5875 E. Saylor, Marblehead, came forward and said she is directly 
across from the lots being considered for rezoning. She said they also love the Crow's Nest, but when 
they bought their house a year ago, one of the reasons for buying there was because ofthe very private, 
quiet neighborhood. She said she has a two year old granddaughter and a newborn grandson. Her family 
comes up all the time; they like to walk their dogs, her granddaughter likes to ride her bike all around 
there and they like to walk around and see all the neighbors. She stated her biggest concern is the traffic. 
She said if they built another bar or restaurant there would be drinking and then people would be coming 
into their neighborhood. She said she would never be able to trust that drivers would not be drinking 
and hitting her kids, grandkids, or dogs. She said most of their driveways are only ten or twenty feet 
back and there was concern about people turning around in their driveways. She asked if people would 
be driving recklessly and passing other people because they are going to a restaurant. She said those 

5 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of Meetin 

Danbury Township Zoning Commission 
GOVERNMENT FORMS & SUPPDES~844-224:3338- FORM NO. 10148 

Held December 3, 20 2025 

people are not going to care about the neighbors, the neighborhood or if there is a kid out there because 
they are just going to this restaurant or leaving the restaurant. She said that her biggest concern was 
someone getting hurt. Ms. Cooper stated this is a residential area and is not commercial. She said if the 
Zoning Commission members drove back there and see how it is today, it is private, not commercial 
whatsoever. Ms. Cooper said if the rezoning were to pass, she would highly recommend that there be 
absolutely no entrance onto Saylor Drive. She said they have to keep this as a residential area to keep 
their kids and everyone safe. She reiterated that she would never be able to trust anyone to be on that 
street with all of that traffic. When you look at Crabby Joe's, she said there is constant traffic, constantly 
somebody backing up and not being able to see another car or person, so they do not even go that way. 
She said she and her family use an alternate route to get to their house because there is too much going 
on there. She stated to the applicant that she also owns a business and understands that they want to 
develop, but this rezoning would only help them and would hurt an entire neighborhood if it was 
allowed to become commercial. Ms. Cooper stated everyone has said to sell it and said she has family 
members that would love to buy it as residential and put a house there. 

Ms. Dress asked Ms. Dale if there would be a way to block the owner of the property from 
using Saylor Street as a frontage if they wanted to. Ms. Dale said there may be a fifteen foot easement 
to one of the lots back there. The roads are privately owned and managed. She said similar to a case 
from last month by Channel Grove, there would need to be title work done on the area. Ms. Dale said 
the street does appear on plats, so it is a dedicated street space. It will come down to how strong the 
association is if it is an active association and how much control they can have over it. She stated that 
they also need to keep in mind that until a plan is presented, they will not know what the owners really 
want to do with it. Depending on what they want to do, it may be a Conditional Use and would require 
an additional review by the Board of Zoning Appeals. If that were to happen, that is something that 
could be voiced again at that time and addressed as a condition through that Board to try to prohibit it. 
If it is a permitted use, it really becomes more of a civil matter than a zoning matter. Ms. Dale asked if 
that answered Ms. Dress' question and stated that it is not for this board to consider the street access. 
They were to determine whether this property was appropriate for commercial or not. That 
determination would come from looking at the Land Use plan, looking at the recommendations, and 
hearing what people have said. The Zoning Commission members would have to rely on what is in 
place in the zoning code and understand there are other legalities that would have to be addressed in 
other ways. She said from a Conditional Use side, zoning would have more control than if they ended 
up using the property for a permitted use. Ms. Mahl asked if the lots were combined, whether it would 
even be big enough to develop a restaurant on it. Ms. Dale said it would depend on the size of the 
building you wanted to put there, and all of the parking required. She said it would all depend on what 
type of building could be erected after accounting for all of the setbacks. She said parking would be 
allowed to go closer to the property line though, than the building setback. There would still be required 
offsets, required landscaping and screening, but it would all come down to what someone wants to 
build. 

John Klaehn, Owner, 5801 E. Dennis, Marblehead, came forward and said he owns the 
parcel directly to the south of these three lots and his parcel is zoned commercial. He said there is a 
house on it, along with a barn, and it has never been used commercially since he bought it in 2009. Ms. 
Dress asked ifhis property was zoned commercial or "R-C." Mr. Klaehn said it was "R-C". He said his 
lot is an acreage lot, as well as all of the commercial lots around him. He said they are discussing three 
subdivision parcels in a row and the application is to change the zoning for that three row area. He said 
he did not know if a zoning board should be considering the financial needs of an applicant. He said he 
did not know if that was one of the considerations the Zoning Commission. would use in deciding 
whether to grant a rezoning of an area. He said a few years ago that a bunch of properties in the 
Township were rezoned on the Bayshore to avoid this problem of having commercial in the middle of 
residential areas. He said they would be essentially doing the opposite with these three parcels if the 
rezoning was granted and that is why he is against it. Ms. Dress said that was addressed by the Regional 
Planning Committee. She also commented that financial considerations were not one ofthe criteria they 
would be considering. 

Bill Greer came forward again, to state that one of the questions raised was about road use and 
he wanted to clarify something. He said several years ago he and Doug Sabin had spent a lot of time 
trying to understand what the West Harbor Shores Association, Incorporated, had bought for $1.00 in 
1981 and were identified on plats as sale of 1,2,3,4 and Kuntz one and two. He said they got a full 
understanding of all the roads that people were asking about. He said the attorney for the title company 
explained that there is a word in there called fee, F-E-E. Mr. Greer said what he was able to understand 
was that it meant the roads are open for use, for anybody to be able to use. In other words, they cannot 
legally restrict people from using the roads. What they have to do is maintain the roads as an 
organization. People put money into maintaining the roads. So, to try to put a restriction in, or to have 
a commercial activity going on, it is still going to go down across the road. He said it is going to be 

6 



RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Minutes of 

Danbury Township Zoning Commission 
GOVERNMENT FORMS & SUPPLIES 844-224-3338 FORM NO. 10148 

Held December 3, 20 2025 

highly inappropriate to the residential community and the people that are there and the people who 
travel through there. He said he just wanted to point out it is not really an option, from what they 
understand. 

Jennifer Rathbun, Owner, 5835 Saylor, Marblehead, came forward and said she wanted to 
piggyback off what Ms. Cooper had said about traffic concerns and her grandchildren. Ms. Rathbun 
said when her family is there, they use the golf cart a lot. She said Ms. Cooper had asked if there could 
not be an entrance on E. Saylor if a bar was built on those parcels. She said apparently, based on what 
Mr. Greer had just said, that would not be guaranteed. She said if you have people coming off of boats 
and the bar situation, as they all know, she would not be comfortable with having people outside. She 
said young people typically go to bars. They have a good time. She said she would not even be 
comfortable with an establishment like that in general, with grandchildren or anything, even if there 
was not an entrance on Saylor. 

The Chair asked if the applicant wanted to address any of the concerns raised by the public. 
Mr. Skweres answered that he had taken a lot of notes but did not have anything to add at this time. 

The Chair asked if there were any questions from the Board regarding this application. Ms. 
Kopanski asked Ms. Dale if this property was one of the ones that had been rezoned previously. Ms. 
Dale said it was not. There were some properties in this neighborhood that had been rezoned, but they 
were more to the south/southwest. It was never zoned commercially. 

The Chair asked if there were any further questions. There were none. 

The Chair asked for a motion to close the public comment section of this hearing. Mr. 
Tuttamore made the motion; Ms. Mahl seconded the motion. All were in favor and the motion carried. 
The Chair stated the Commission will now deliberate the decision standards for a Map Amendment. 
Ms. Dress read the decision standards and asked for the Commission's thoughts and comments. 

Mr. Tuttamore said he believed decision criteria "b" would be the only one that would apply 
in this situation, which is "The proposed amendment will make the map conform more closely with the 
Land Use Plan". Ms. Dress asked if he was stating that it would. Mr. Tuttamore said he thought they 
had to make the motion and then they could vote against it or for it. Ms. Dale said they can make a 
motion in the affirmative or in the dissension. If a motion is made in the affirmative, they would have 
to have a criterion that is satisfied. If they made a motion in the dissention, they would have to find that 
none of the criteria were met. The way they wanted to make the motion could be discussed once there 
was a motion on the table. At this time, they just needed to deliberate and discuss the criteria to be 
considered. Ms. Mahl said the only possibility in her mind would be decision criteria "d" which was 
"There is a legitimate needfor additional land are in the zoning district that will be expanded" if taken 
from the applicant's point of view. She said she did not agree with that, but if the Zoning Commission 
wanted to make a motion in the affirmative, that would be the only one she could see that would make 
sense. Mr. Tuttamore said if they wanted to make it in the negative, they could use "b". Ms. Kopanski 
stated they did not have to use one of the criteria if it was negative. Ms. Dress said you could just vote 
no on the amendment and even if the motion is made in the affirmative,the person making the motion 
does not have to vote in the affirmative for it. Ms. Dale said if you make the motion in the affirmative 
and the motion fails; the case is denied. If you make the motion in the dissension and it does not pass, 
then you have to remake the motion in the affirmative. She said she just wanted the Zoning Commission 
to keep that in mind that for any case for a government entity, just because a motion is made in the 
affirmative, you have to wait for the actual vote no matter what. The Zoning Commission agreed that 
the dissension votes are very confusing. Ms. Dale described how they would need to word their vote if 
they wanted to make it in the dissension. Mr. Kaminskas stated it is much clearer if it is made in the 
affirmative. 

The Chair asked if anyone from the Commission had anything further to add. There was none. 
The Chair asked if anyone would like to make a motion. 

Ms. Mahl made a motion to approve case ZC-2025-245, as presented herein, finding that 
decision criteria "d" of Section 7.7.3.E. ii. of the Danbury Zoning Resolution as being satisfied. Ms. 
Kopanski seconded the motion. 

The roll call vote was as follows: Ms. Mahl- No; Mr. Tuttamore - No; Mr. Kaminskas - No; 
Ms. Kopanski - No; Ms. Dress - No; The motion failed 5-0. Ms. Dale stated the Application has been 
recommended for Denial. 

Ms. Dale gave a brief overview for those present on what happens next and that those who 
received notice for this hearing will receive notice for the Trustee hearing date once that date has been 
set. 

Ms. Dale also said information could be found on the Township's website and Facebook page 
regarding this hearing and the Trustee Hearing once the date is set. 

7 



\ 
\ 

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
Min~ltes of Meetin 

Danbury Township Zoning Commission 
GOVERNt.{ENT FORMS & suPPLiEs 844-224-3338 FORM NO. 10148 
.. I 

Held December 3,20 2025 

Ms_ Dale advised the public that they were going to pause the meeting to allow the public to 
leave, unless they wished to stay for the remainder of the meeting. 

Unfinished Business 
There was none. 

Other Business 
Reports and Communications from Members and Staff 

Ms. Dress said they would need to elect officers for 2026. Ms. Dale said they had to do a couple 
of things first to include acceptance of bylaws and the 2026 meeting schedule. Ms. Dale said she had 
to make a minor revision to address notification requirements due to the text amendment that had been 
passed earlier in the year along with a section number correction. She said Ms. Mahl had asked about 
the wording regarding public notifications in newspapers. Ms. Dale said although we are no longer 
required to make notifications in that form, there are sometimes they may use the newspaper to get 
information out to the public as a last minute news brief. She said she was willing to leave the language 
in there in case they needed it. Ms. Dale asked them to review the meeting schedule for 2026 and stated 
that none of the meetings fell on a holiday so it would not have to be adjusted. 

Mr. Tuttamore made a motion to accept the bylaws and meeting schedule for 2026. Ms. 
Kopanski seconded the motion. All were in favor. 

Ms. Dale advised all the Commission Members that they had all received a new updated copy 
of the Zoning Resolution, along with a map of their property showing the area in which they must 
recuse themselves from cases. 

Ms. Dale then swore Ms. Dress for the next term of five years, to which she was appointed. 
Ms. Dale then stated they needed to elect the Zoning Commission officers for 2026. Ms. Dale ensured 
that the current officers wanted to continue in that capacity. They all agreed they wanted to continue. 

Mr. Tuttamore recognized the wonderful job their officers had done the last year and proposed 
they nominate all three officers to continue to hold their current positions for 2026. Ms. Mahl seconded 
the motion. All were ayes. 

Ms. Dale advised the Zoning Commission that the cases involving the old Mazur property and 
Stowaway Jeannie would be heard by the Trustees the following night. Ms. Dale said that the cases for 
the rezoning of the Erie Market and the DB Development had been heard and approved by the Trustees 
in November, as well as the Storage Text Amendments. New zoning maps would be provided once the 
Trustees decided the other cases. 

Ms. Dale said they did need to start thinking about the Land Use Plan which would be her 
primary focus for next year. She also advised that only about 25 master plans were submitted for storage 
out ofthe 75+ properties. Ms. Dress asked if there was any sort of game plan/schedule/set of directions 
for developing the Land Use Plan. Ms. Dale said she did not believe they needed to go through a full 
re-write of it like they did in 2017. She said the maps and charts would need to be updated and she 
would need to figure out how she updated it then and convert it into the systems we use now. She said 
there was a huge committee last time, but she would prefer a fraction of that moving forward. She still 
would like BZA members, a Trustee, Regional Planning, some Zoning Commission members and a 
few people from the general public to be involved. A lot of the character areas established in 2017 did 
not really need any changes. What may need more changes is the overlay where they would like to see 
things go. She outlined how they had accomplished that for the 2017 Land Use Plan. 

Ms. Mahl stated she would not be at the meeting in January. Mr. Kaminskas stated he will not 
be in attendance in February or March. 

Adjournment 
The Chair asked for a motion to adjourn. Ms. Kopanski moved to adjourn the meeting and Mr. 

Kaminskas seconded the motion. All Ayes. The motion carried. 

The meeting was adjourned at 8:08 p.m. 
~c~ 

*~~a.'boJL 
REc6RD~SECRETARY 

li)p K~insKC:t:t::= 
h- J __ 

William Tuttamore 

Cynthia Mahl 
ZONING COMMISSION 

8 


